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Some sixty buildings compose the Cody Road Historic District in Le Claire. They are 
ranged along both sides of a 9'block stretch of U.S. 67, locally known as Cody Road 
and the community's principal thorofare. The road runs north/south; it is parallel 
to, and slightly above, the Mississippi River. The road is heavily traveled, being 
the main road between Clinton on the north and Davenport about 15 miles to the south­ 
west. The district contains both residential and commercial structures, the latter 
concentrated in the south end and extending north along the east side of Cody Road. 
Most of the residential structures are found on the west side, facing the Mississippi.

Buildings on the east (river) side of the road typically have high, stone, walk-in 
basements at the rear, due to the sharp drop of the ground from street level down to 
the river. North of the main commercial area, buildings on the west side are often 
situated well above street level, their lots in some cases fronted with stone retaining 
walls. Buildings in the commercial area, and all those on the east side of the road, 
are situated quite close to the highway, with sidewalks narrow or nonexistent, and parkinc 
haphazard. This latter problem has been "solved" in the cases of certain recent'-commer- 
cial buildings, which are large, pre-fab construction set well back behind large parking 
lots — wholly opposite to the general character of the district.

The buildings, commercial and residential, range in age from the 1850's to new construc­ 
tion, the latter particularly evident toward the south end of the district. The 
houses are generally in good condition, and for the most part occupied; many of the 
commercial structures are emptry, deteriorated, or extensively "modernized", particularly 
at street level. Foundations are mostly of local limestone (the town was once well-known 
locally f€>r its lime and sandstone quarries). Commercial structures are for the 
most part built of locally manufactured soft brick, while residential structures are 
of wood, brick, and^ in a few instances, limestone. The scale is low -- one or two 
stories (at street level), with the exception of the 3~story Bard Hotel.

Although riddled with intrusions, modernized storefronts, and suffering the effects 
of deterioration by neglect, the Cody Road district contains the majority of the communi­ 
ty's architectural and historic resources. It is safe to say that homogeneity is not 
characteristic of the district. On the contrary, the historic resources present 
a cross-section of mid-to-late 19th century residential and commercial building types 
and forms. The oldest are the remains of Le Claire from the I850's-l860's period, 
when the community reached its peak of prosperity and prominence as a river town. 
These include such forms as (l) the narrow, two story, two or three bay front commercial 
structure, with a broad, low-pitched gable or half-hip roof, with ridge parallel to the 
front (106, 110, 125, 229 N. Cody); (2) the front-gable residential or commercial 
structure (103 S. Cody, 118, 209, and the 600 block (east side) N. Cody); (3) the house 
with Greek Revival influences (symmetrical front, gable roof ridge parallel to the front 
(102, 414, 419, 510 N. Cody)); (4) the vernacular Italianate residential form, with
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The Cody Road Historic District is significant both in terms of architecture and 
of local history. The area contains a rich variety of mid-to-late 19th century 
architecture and building types, ranging from the simple utilitarianism of working- 
men's dwellings, and assorted forms of comercial architecture, to relatively 
"sty 1ish" examples of upper-middle-class residential construction. Such variety 
of buiIding stock, particularly that which includes structures from the 1850's, 
is in Iowa concentrated almost exclusively in the eastern third of the state and 
is found most typically in the river communities which represent Iowa's earliest 
settlement history. Furthermore, many of these resources can be associated, directly 
or indirectly, with some of the persons and activities that played major roles in 
Le Claire's reputation as a small though bustling center of industry and commerce, 
and, above all, as an important participant in Mississippi River trade and trans­ 
portation from the mid-1850's to about 1880.

The history of Le Claire began in the mid-1830's, when the first settlers came to 
the area. By the end of that decade,, there were two towns platted, Parkhurst and 
Le Claire, the former just north of the latter. Parkhurst was eventually incorporated 
into Le Claire, along with the narrow strip of land between them which during the 
1850's was known as "Middletown". Of particular importance in the development of 
Le Claire was its strategic location at the head of a 15-mile stretch of rock-strewn 
water known as the Upper Rapids.

From the first, the Mississippi River played a predominant part in the life of 
Le Claire. Apart from stone quarries and brickyards (there was an abundance of 
limestone and good clay), early industry was mostly milling -- grist and lumber, 
the latter of particular importance and longevity. Several fortunes were made 
in lumber here, and were reflected in the fine residences of such men as William 
Headley (226 N. Cody), James McCaffrey (208 N. Cody), J.W. Rambo (430 N. Cody) 
and Alfred Jansen, who built 419 and 414 N. Cody (the former, known as the Old 
Mill House, was built adjacent to his lumberyard). Several of these houses, dis­ 
playing Italianate. and Greek Revival influences of the mid-19th century, are still 
among the community's finest architectural resources.

Beginning in the l850's and continuing into the 1870's, Le Claire's character as a 
true river town developed. The boatyards, established in the early 1850's by 
Thomas Lancaster and Levi Chamberlin, were taken over (along with the Old Mill House) 
in 1862 by J.W. Van Sant, and became the town's second principal employer -- up 
to 100 men in a population which was in i860 only 1450. The largest employer was 
the river Itself: generations of Le Claire men earned their living on it, as 
crewmen, engineers (the Thompson house, a diminutive and attractive example of
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low hipped roof, sometimes with bracketted cornice (114, 208, 226, 716, 806 N. Cody).

The later 19th century structures are also varied. Most typical are the brick 
"Italianate" commercial blocks, with flat roofs and parapetted fronts, a few re­ 
taining the metal cornices which were a ubiquitous feature of the type, and much 
in evidence along the Main Streets of many Iowa towns (117, 121, 123 S. Cody, 
117, 127 N. Cody). Stylistic influences of late Victorian residential construction 
(Queen Anne, Eastiake, Shingle, and more Italianate) are represented by such houses 
as 316, 422, and 504 N. Cody. Others are small bungalows (628, 812 N. Cody) or 
plain, L-shaped front-gable houses (402, 622, 624 N. Cody). Standing as single 
representatives of their types are the three-story Bard Hotel (207 N. Cody) which 
hides a front porch behind barnboards; the old city hall (201-203 N. Cody) with 
its concave hipped roof, pedimented window hoods, and decorative cornices; and the 
former Presbyterian Church (322 N. Cody), a small frame structure with central 
entrance/belItower.

It should be noted, finally, that none of the structures and facilities associated 
with Le Claire's 19th century industrial activity remain.- These once included the 
boatyards, several lumber and grist mills, a plow factory and an iron foundry. 
Another loss was that of a large rock elm near the riverbank, once known as "The 
Green Tree Hotel", beneath which raftsmen lounged and slept while waiting for 
steamboats to take them back upriver. Most recently, the Smith-Parrick house, 
a large brick dwelling once the home of raft pilot John Smith and a significant 
architectural landmark, was razed and the lot used for a drug store and parking 
lot.

The boundaries of the district have been drawn to include all the historic resources 
along Cody Road. East and west boundaries are the rear property lines of the 
Cody Road properties. On the west, this line is the series of alleys which run 
parallel to Cody Road. On the east, the rear property lines are established by 
the railroad right-of-way which runs parallel to the Mississippi River. The 
north and south boundaries of the district are slightly irregular, reflecting 
the encroachment of new construction. On the west side of Cody Road, the district 
begins with 102 N. Cody and extends through 812 North Cody. On the east, the 
district begins with 125-7$. Cody and runs north through 701 North Cody.

Ratings:
A: pivotal structures, by virtue of age (l860's or before), architectural significance

and/or visual prominence 
B: all other buildings which were built around or before the turn of the century,

and which are reasonably intact 
C: modern intrusions, or older structures which have to all intents and purposes

lost their historic integrity
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"Indirectly associated, however, is the steamer Lone Star, located 
at the foot of Jones Street and now used as a museum relic. It 
was originally built in 1868, but, as was often the case with 
this type of craft, the wooden superstructure was rebuilt several 
times over the years. Originally built as a sidewheeler, the 
Lone Star was later converted to a stern wheel. It was for 
many years a workboat (indicated by the traditional gray and white 
of the superstructure) for the Builders' Sand and Gravel Co. of 
Davenport, and was commanded by Orrin Smith, one of the last 
generation of Le Claire river pilots. The Lone Star serves today 
as a most appropriate symbol of Le Claire's 19th century involvement 
in Mississippi River transportation and commerce.
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Greek Revival architecture, 510 N. Cody), mates, raftmen on the huge lumber rafts 
floated down river from Wisconsin forests. The "aristocracy" of this group were 
the pilots -- men who specialized in guiding steamboats and lumber rafts (with 
and without towboats), at about $10 a trip, over the treacherous waters of the 
Upper Rapids. Among these were James McCaffrey (208 N. Cody), George Tromley, 
Sr. (806 N. Cody), Zachariah Suiter (102 N. Cody), J.W. Rambo (**30 N. Cody), 
J.W. Van Sant (*t!9 N. Cody) and his son, Samuel (320 N. Cody), the latter the 
designer in 1872 of the steam raftboat which was to revolutionize the moving of 
logs and lumber down the Mississippi River.

Another industry, though short-lived, was the Owen Plow Factory, which was located in 
"Middletown" (between Ferry and Holland Streets) from 1851 to 1856. John Owen 
was the inventor of a bar share plow, specifically designed for cutting through the 
tough sod of the Iowa prairies. Many of his employees also lived in "Middletown"; 
relics of their lives are the curious little front-gable houses, on large stone 
basements, from 537 through 627 N. Cody.

Other remains of Le Claire's enterprises during the boom period are the handful of 
commercial structures, distinguished from the later, "Italianate" bracketted forms 
by their low, braod gable or half-hip roofs, ridges parallel to the street, or, 
in two cases, by narrow front gables (106, 110, 118, 125, 229 N. Cody). One of 
these, the front-gable frame building at 103 S. Cody, was long a mercantile estab­ 
lishment run by the Schworm family, among the many German immigrants who came to 
Le Claire in the l850's. These buildings are particularly noteworthy in that 
relatively few commercial structures of this age and character remain in Iowa, mostly 
located in other river cities.

The later decades of the 19th century in Le Claire were characterized by a gradual 
decline in the industrial and river-oriented activities which had sustained the 
community's prosperity. Flour and grist mills closed, as the milling industry 
increasingly was concentrated in the hands of large-scale producers. By the 1870's, 
the railroads took a firm lead over steamboats in the transportation of passengers 
and cargo. For a few decades, until the forests of Wisconsin and Minnesota were 
exhausted, there was still a good living to be made in moving lumber down the river, 
as a raftsman, or as an entineer, captain, or sapids pilot, on the raftboats. Small- 
scale commerce continued (as witnessed by the construction of brick commercial 
blocks such as 117, 121, 123 S. Cody, 117, 127 N. Cody). The Bard Hotel (207 N. 
Cody) and the Gault House (11^ N. Cody) offered beds and food to travellers. The 
Rathmam family (316 N. Cody), German immigrants, established a pork processing plant, 
serving the river trade as well as the immediate community. The old Presbyterian 
Church burned down in 1875 and another, very like the first, was erected on the 
site (322 N. Cody). Toward the end of the century, Le Claire built a new town hall 
(301-3 N. Cody), distinguished by its concave, decked hipped roof and decorative
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cornice and window detail.

After 1875 however, the town's population declined from 1121 that year to about
700 by 1910. As the importance of the Mississippi River, as 
tation and commerce, waned, so did the fortunes of Le Claire 
river towns, such as Burlington, Davenport or Dubuque, Le Cl 
develop an alternative economic base. The result was essent 
lasted until the 1950's. Since then, the growth of the Quad 
Bettendorf, Rock Island and Moline) to the south has turned 
of a bedroom community for those cities, as demonstrated by 
construction on both ends of the Cody Road Historic District 
tions of the town.

an artery of transpor-
UnlIke other Iowa 

ai re was unable to 
ially stagnation, which
Cities (Davenport, 

Le Claire into something 
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